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Dedicated to the children sent to undo four hundred years of injustice






No one knew what was going to happen. Everybody was hoping. Even though Clinton was segregated, it was still one of the most tolerant little towns.

—JO ANN ALLEN BOYCE








A NOTE ON LANGUAGE

I have decided to include quotations involving racial slurs. I hope this makes readers uncomfortable. I also hope it illustrates how racism infected white American culture in the 1950s and prompts readers to ask what language we use now that illustrates how racial inequality structures white American life today.

Most of the white people in Clinton who used the N-word were churchgoing folks who considered themselves highly moral. Many of them eschewed alcohol, cards, and other vices. Few of them would say “shit” or “damn” or “fuck,” especially not in public. Most would even avoid saying “Lord!” or “God!” unless they were praying. So it’s telling how many people—even the supposedly “good” white folks siding with law and order—used profanity to describe the Black children of Clinton and their families. When they called their fellow townspeople the N-word or some other derogatory, racist term, they did it knowingly. The word was considered so offensive that during the court trials over the violence in Clinton, one white substitute teacher broke down on the witness stand because she was appalled by what she had heard her friends saying. The ugliness of racism had sidelined the other ethical and moral strictures that guided their lives.

The original speakers meant their words to be ugly and hurtful and violent. If you read this book aloud, I encourage you to avoid saying the slurs, especially if you are white. There is a difference between documenting such violence and perpetuating it. It is easy to cross from one side of that line to the other. I have tried to stay on the correct side, but it is a choice that worries me. Contemplate where you see the line drawn.
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PROLOGUE Coming to the Clinch, September 2005


The town of Clinton curls into the cup of land formed where the Clinch River turns sharply to meet the Tennessee, a fertile, gently rolling valley that fosters the community of some ten thousand residents. Behind the town square, the hills crack into a series of long, narrow ridges—ancient fold-and-thrust belts formed when the mountains rose up some 480 million years ago. Veins of coal lay pressed between the strata of rocks. When the land stopped shoving upward, sharp peaks pierced the sky, gathering the morning fogs from the valleys around them. Erosion and time have worn the mountaintops into the hills and hollers of Tennessee.

The first people moved to the mountains at least twelve thousand years ago, and possibly much further back than that. From the Clinch, they gathered mollusks and mussels and fish and turtles. They hunted muskrats and geese and otters on the valley floor and stalked raccoons and rabbits and bears and deer and bison on the ridges. Through careful cultivation of the surrounding forests, they grew nuts and berries for food; they harvested vines and canes that they transformed into baskets and clothing. When they wanted to visit neighboring villages, they navigated the Clinch River, but they also carved a path through the mountains that linked them into an intercontinental network of trails, a trading web stretching from Northern Canada to central South America and from the sea islands of the mid-Atlantic to California. Some of them called their home the Ouasioto Mountains. Then about 250 years ago disease and warfare and the American government drove the Indigenous residents away.

White settlers renamed the peaks the Cumberland Mountains, an homage to Prince William Augustus, Duke of Cumberland. They founded Clinton and made it the seat of the newly created Anderson County. Then they set about extracting wealth from the hills. Coal miners burrowed and blasted and picked tunnels deep into their hearts. Farmers and bankers and textile workers staked lives on their steep sides and verdant vales, the monied along the river basin, and crofters out in the ravines and glens where planting was hard and seasonal storms washed away the topsoil. Since the rugged landscape wasn’t good for large-scale plantation-style farming, slavery never took hold in the region the way it did deeper south, but the richest white leaders still bought and sold the enslaved, shoring up their assets and power in human bodies.

After Emancipation, many of the county’s five hundred or so newly freed Black residents moved into Clinton, settling on the first ridge overlooking downtown. They worked wage-earning jobs that protected them from the sharecropping system taking hold of the agricultural South but sent them into the white neighborhoods where segregation and racism reigned. To shelter themselves and their families from hate, they built a neighborhood. They erected houses around two churches—one Baptist and one Methodist—and a small primary school. Soon the district had become known as Freedman’s Hill, which locals shortened to simply the Hill. (Ninety years on, the journalists who covered Clinton High’s desegregation assumed this was the same as Foley Hill, a white enclave a couple miles away, a confusion both Hill communities found distressing.)

Like most other Black neighborhoods around the South, the Hill’s population fell during the early twentieth century as its young fled north and east and west seeking better lives and more opportunities. But the area’s numbers rebounded in the 1940s thanks to a cluster of federal projects nearby. By the 1950s, the region supported a small Black business district that included a nightclub and a sandwich shop, but the heart of the community was still the school, by then called Green McAdoo Grammar School, which stood on the crest of the Hill, flanked by Asbury Methodist and Mt. Sinai Baptist.

Downtown, postbellum prosperity had transformed the by-water town into a center of commerce. Back then, industry thrived. Railroad cars heaped with coal lumbered through, coasting out of the mountains to fire the nation’s power grid. Many local men, both white and Black, worked in the mines. Another quarter of the town’s white adults were employed at Magnet Knitting Mills, a brick industrial complex two blocks from the square. A handful harvested and traded freshwater pearls plucked from the oysters that thrived in the Clinch River despite its annual floods.

Two highways intersected at the square. US 25W, or the Dixie Highway, shuttled drivers from Ohio to Florida; though these travelers didn’t realize it, they were following the trail originally opened by the county’s first residents. SR61 went into the mountains, connecting the coal miners to the rest of the nation. In 1890, the community had erected a two-story Romanesque brick courthouse with a clock tower and covered porticos in the center of the town square to house the Anderson County Court. Offices and restaurants and shops and one hotel popped up on the streets around it, all catering to white customers, of course. White travelers stopped in Clinton to buy food and gas and rent rooms for the night.

Clinton doesn’t bustle any longer, although its population today is the largest it’s ever been—about triple what the town’s size was in 1956. Globalization and the interstate highway system have contracted the community from being a regional hub into a typical small Southern town with a few historic homes, some rows of empty storefronts, and a smattering of modernist monstrosities, all radiating from the town square.

The coal industry left the county when the veins around Clinton played out, devastating the economy. And then Magnet Knitting shut down, its hosiery farmed out to other parts of the world. Over the next four decades, its redbrick buildings crumbled, a reminder of what the town used to be but was no longer. When I-75 replaced the Dixie Highway, travelers stopped trekking downtown for supplies or a place to sleep. Local boosters have turned Market Street’s abandoned shops into an antiquing district, but younger generations prefer a more minimal style of decorating. Only a handful of tourists bother to make the drive.



I first came to Clinton in September 2005. That year, I was a research fellow at Middle Tennessee State University’s Center for Historic Preservation, and I’d been sent to the town to launch an oral history initiative. I was to collect stories about the high school’s desegregation—it was the first instance of court-mandated desegregation in the South, one year before Little Rock—so that the community could open a small museum. Though I’d grown up just a few counties away, I had never heard of Clinton High School before that September. That didn’t surprise Clinton’s then-mayor, Winfred “Little Wimp” Shoopman. What had happened there in 1956 “was swept under the rug for fifty years,” he told me. “History, if it was a pie, they were taking a bite out of it every year by not talking about it. Eventually, the pie was going to be eat up and no more story.”

That first visit, Clinton’s downtown snuck up on me. One stoplight, I was surrounded by car lots and fast-food joints and other architectural detritus left by 1970s-era urban redevelopment. Next, I was peering at the abandoned Magnet Knitting Mills. Then I pulled up alongside Hoskins Drug Store. In another community, this pharmacy/lunch counter/gift shop would have closed decades ago. It would have sat abandoned until some local kid came back to remodel it, replacing its pumpkin-colored vinyl booths with sleek kitsch. The food would have been billed as “homestyle” or “haute Southern.” But in Clinton, Hoskins has survived by selling its customers—mostly lawyers doing business at the county courthouse—the same lunches they’ve always ordered: small hamburgers on ready-made buns, grilled cheese sandwiches, malted milkshakes.

Past Hoskins, I saw the recently remodeled Ritz Theater, all art deco curves and sporting its original marquee. In the 1950s, it was the place to be on a Friday or Saturday night. The weekend after the high school desegregated, the feature film was The Fastest Gun Alive, starring Glenn Ford and Jeanne Crain. That Saturday night, the local white boys who usually gathered out front to court local white girls had faced down the Tennessee National Guard under the Ritz’s lit sign: two rows of lanky, white teenagers, most of whom did not yet need a daily shave. One line wore khaki uniforms with lacquered steel pot helmets. The other had rolled jeans and slicked-back hair. The Clinton boys had pressed into the Guards’ bayonetted muzzles, pushing forward until the weapons had left crisp creases in their starched button-downs.

On the lawn across the street, outside the county courthouse, sat the war memorial where machinist Willard Till announced the formation of the Anderson County White Citizens’ Council. Neighbors had queued up to pay their three-dollar membership fee; they leaned on the monument, signing their registration forms on the rock upon which was carved “Lest We Forget.” Over 150 joined the group within the first two hours.

Just past the courthouse, I saw the rebuilt high school, though it now housed the city’s middle school. There was the stone wall supporting the school’s embankment where Clinton High’s first twelve Black students turned, climbed the steps, and waded through the crowd of white teenagers. The white kids had simply watched the Black students enter the school on the first day, but soon they were jeering and then heckling and then assaulting their new classmates.

Starting up the Hill, my vehicle juddered over the railroad tracks where segregationists had once set off three sticks of dynamite. I saw the ditches where the Black men and boys had crouched, sipping coffee to stay awake during the long night watches, hand-built squirrel rifles and inherited Winchesters and borrowed Remingtons clutched in their hands. I passed the empty lot where Ronald Hayden had posed for Life magazine on his grandmother’s front lawn, standing a few steps from where a bomb would explode. He had dressed up for the occasion in a hip white cotton shirt that laced at the collar instead of buttoning. He’d left the brown leather ties undone and then chained a medallion around his neck, maybe a talisman for safety. While the photographer set up the shot, Ronald had cradled his baby sister, perhaps explaining to her what was going on as a way of making sense of it himself. He’d been a serious boy by then, just a skinny fourteen-year-old kid sent out to undo generations of inequality.

Above me loomed Green McAdoo Grammar School where the children of the Hill met to pray before their hopeful and terrifying descent to Clinton High. Most of the old structure was still sound. Before installing the museum, all the town needed to do was peel away five decades of neglect and abuse: reopen the front porch bricked in to create a small, stuffy storage room; reseal the roofing; remove the paneled drop ceiling; refinish the original floors.

Deciding what narrative—or, more accurately, whose narrative—to feature in the exhibits would be more challenging. The battle over the story of Clinton’s desegregation is part of an ongoing national struggle over the politics of memory. History, like all things involving power in America today, is seen as a zero-sum game. But our memories are not time machines. They reveal something much deeper and truer and more personal than a simple timeline of events. We choose what we want to remember, and we also choose what we will forget.

I was able to reconstruct these previously unknown stories because the people of Clinton were generous with their memories. My narrators taught me to think of memory as being like music. The basic building blocks are the solos: one voice telling its story. As soon as more voices join in, the music of the past becomes more complex. Some people have held on to perspectives that harmonize, differing only by gradations of nuance, but more often the various voices are in discord and disagreement. This is the most troubling part of memory, but it can also be the most revealing. There is power in the complexity of a community’s story, when it clashes like Stravinsky’s Rite of Spring. If you stand next to only one voice, the rest of the orchestra seems to be in chaos, but if you can step back and listen to the whole of the group, the differing narratives become the melodies, harmonies, and descants of the piece.

As I’ve learned about the struggle in Clinton, I’ve been amazed by its erasure from official accounts of the civil rights movement. Midway through this project, I climbed to the fourth floor of the Davis Graduate Library at the University of North Carolina. I studied the call numbers, searching for E185.61.A425 2002, the beginning of the library’s main civil rights history section. I reached for the first book, The Origins of the African American Civil Rights Movement, 1865–1956, and flipped to its index, looking for any reference to Clinton. Nothing. I checked the next likely book, The American Civil Rights Movement: Readings and Interpretations; still no references to Clinton. I continued down the shelf.

What happened in this little town between 1956 and 1958 wasn’t a small story at the time. People around the world followed as twelve Black students braved mobs and beatings and bombings for the right to attend high school in their home county. The Associated Press, Reuters, Life, Time, the New York Times, America’s three major television networks, even the BBC and the London Daily Sketch, all stationed journalists there. Pioneering documentarian Edward R. Murrow filmed two award-winning specials about the school. Evangelist Billy Graham hosted a crusade in the school’s gymnasium, urging repentance, healing, and reconciliation.

The events in Clinton challenge how we talk about our civil rights history. Many of the best-known desegregation narratives—Little Rock, New Orleans, Boston, Birmingham—have been told in ways that give us clear-cut heroes and villains. What happened in Clinton is messier than that. It’s a tale of how apathy enables hatefulness. It’s a story of how discord can balloon into violence. It’s an account of how doing the wrong thing gave some people unprecedented power and opportunity. It’s a record of how doing the right thing can leave some individuals permanently scarred, physically and mentally. It’s a chronicle of how a small Southern town can explode, and then a whole entire country can forget.

On the first day of the 1956–57 school year, however, none of the participants knew any of this was about to happen. They were doing something never before accomplished in American history. Had their success been decisive and immediate—or had local, state, and federal officials shut down dissent and stood up for the court order, calling integration right and fair—where would we be as a nation today? Instead, everyone in power waffled or looked away. Today we are split by many of the same divisions and grievances that splintered Clinton in 1956. How will our leaders respond? And if they, too, continue to abdicate their responsibility, how will we take charge?



The process of forgetting an event as important as the desegregation of Clinton High School sounds passive, but it requires an active “correction” of the record. When I started my work in Clinton back in 2005, my first oral history interview was with Margaret Anderson, a white woman who had been the high school’s business and typing teacher. She had served as the unofficial guidance counselor for the twelve Black students. Though she had not believed in desegregation when the 1956 school year began, she did believe in obeying the law. The Black students’ struggles to remain in Clinton High changed her into a true integrationist. She wrote about desegregation in a series of articles for the New York Times, which she later expanded into a memoir, The Children of the South. In her narrative, she centered the Black students and castigated many white leaders. Maybe that was why when I was introduced to her by a local white official just old enough to have seen the events for himself, he admonished her. “Now remember, Ms. Anderson, you lied in your book,” he said. “You tell Rachel what we agreed had occurred.”

After he left, Margaret made me a mug of instant coffee, and we sat down in her parlor to chat. She was nervous. “When I don’t want you to record it, could I just raise my hand or something, give you a signal?” she asked me. “That way I feel free. You know what I mean?”

I didn’t realize it that morning in Margaret Anderson’s kitchen, but I would spend the next eighteen years of my life immersed in the stories the people of Clinton had to share, whether their neighbors wanted them to or not. As each person I spoke with would show me, William Faulkner was right: history wasn’t dead; it was barely the past. And I don’t just mean that stories told by grandparents and great-grandparents lived on in their descendants’ minds. This history was so recent that many of the participants themselves were still alive. When locals looked at the pictures of white rioters around the school, they knew the faces captured on film. These were the people they shopped with at the local Food City or worshiped with at First Baptist Church or traded presents with every Christmas. The people in the pictures had birthed and raised them.

The best way to settle the conflict over desegregation was to let it lie, many white folks said. Or, as one founder of the Tennessee White Youth told me when I asked him for an interview, “Honey, there was a lot of ugliness down at the school that year; best we just move on and forget it.”

But though the rest of the world did forget about Clinton High School, the students and teachers and parents and townspeople affected by the story could not. Their experiences had changed them, scarred them, broken them. Some were able to rebuild their lives, but others were not. Two of the people I’d come to admire—complicated individuals with the hamartias necessary for classical heroes—never recovered. Both would die by suicide.

The first lesson of this book is this: History is the story of human beings, individuals responding to events already in motion and seldom under their control. Along the way, many of them end up doing things they never expected. Sometimes they act bravely, changing their world for good. At other times they do injury to people they would have called friends.

Very few of us are simply heroes or villains. None of us deserves to be remembered for only the very best or the very worst things we have done. And yet we must be accountable for our damage.

And a lot of damage was caused in those years.
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ONE Descending Freedman’s Hill


In the packed schoolyard, the teenagers had divided into their usual clusters and cliques, the layout of Clinton High’s social strata mapped so clearly that even the freshmen bused in from the county’s rural K–8 schools had already found their people. Wannabe rebels with duck-ass haircuts and cuffed, fraying jeans lurked on the fringes or stood on the stacked stone wall edging the campus. A few sported the black leather jackets that were the uniform of the local gang, creatively named the Black Jackets. Along the sidewalk, a cluster of clear-faced girls with curled ponytails and circle skirts bounced nervously in their bobby socks. Elsewhere, the nerds and the aggies and the cheerleaders had each carved out their respective places. Jocks in black letterman jackets with fuzzy orange Cs prowled throughout the crowd, establishing their right to police the school. Those who had been part of the Bob Neyland Conference Championship teams had tan footballs stitched onto their coats’ right pec.

Yes, on the morning of Monday, August 27, 1956, everything on the lawn looked as it ought to on the first day of school, and yet nothing was right. Where was the din? The bustle? The babble? How could it be that no one, not a single one of the gathered gaggle, was saying a word?

Jo Ann Allen found the silence creepy. She’d prepared carefully for this, her first day in her new school. She’d sorted through the five skirt-and-shirt combinations her grandmother Minnie had sewn for her over the summer, finally settling on her favorite: a prim blouse with cap sleeves that she’d tucked into a dark, full skirt and cinched to her slender frame with a snug black belt. She’d curled her bangs and twisted her ponytail into a ballet bun. Then she’d tucked some small white flowers into her updo. Maybe, just maybe, the white girls along the sidewalk would see her and recognize a kindred spirit, another good girl looking for friends.

As ready as she could be, Jo Ann had picked up her lunch bag and her notebooks and headed over to Green McAdoo Grammar to meet the nine other Black students from the Hill who would be walking to school with her. The twelve teens who’d be desegregating Clinton High that morning were divided equally between girls and boys, but two of the girls—Jo Ann’s best friend, Gail Ann Epps, and Anna Theresser Caswell—did not live on the Hill and would meet them at the school.

Up on the Hill, the ten students held hands and looked toward downtown while Bobby Cain, one of two seniors, prayed for their safety. His prayer echoed the words that the Reverend O. W. Willis, pastor over at Mt. Sinai Baptist Church, had murmured over them the night before. “Help us to love our enemies,” the reverend had said, “and send our children down the Hill with peace in their hearts.” After the service, had the adults whispered about what the coming day would bring? Yes, the courts were on their side, but what would that mean? Could the Supreme Court’s ruling be enforced? Could equality really be won with pretty words on a page?

Maybe all would be well, the Black students thought. After all, in May 1954, a mere week after the Supreme Court announced its first decision overturning segregation in education, administrators in Fayetteville, Arkansas, had announced they’d be desegregating their high school. By the next fall, they’d done so. Now yes, white public outcry had stopped Sheridan, Arkansas, from following suit. But both Hoxie and Charleston, Arkansas, had voluntarily and quietly abolished their segregated schools in the autumn of ’55. The trick seemed to be for towns to do it quickly and without public stink. Sure, a couple hundred segregationists had shown up in Hoxie a month and a half after the Black teens had started classes, having been tipped off by Life magazine. But when Governor Orval Faubus refused to intervene, the local courts issued a temporary restraining order ending the protests, and that was that. So maybe, the Black students thought, they’d face a few protestors and suffer a couple nasty glances and it would be over. Just maybe. The students must’ve worried, however, that their reception would be worse. They weren’t continuing what the kids in Arkansas had already accomplished. This was the first time desegregation would be forced on a town. And by the feds, no less! If the courts got their way at Clinton High, no segregated school in America would be safe.

They’d all heard the rumors, the ones that said some white folks in Anderson County were organizing, that they’d filled up reams of paper with petitions protesting the Black students’ entry. They’d heard about the bill filed in Chancery Court just last Wednesday, the one that would strip Clinton High of state funds if they were allowed to start classes, and they’d seen the advertisement taken out in the Clinton Courier-News by the Tennessee Federation for Constitutional Government asking people to join the organization and help prevent “mixed schools.” But maybe the white folks would stick to petitions and lawsuits and ads.

It was time to test the segregationists’ resolve. Wouldn’t do for the Black students to be tardy on the first day of school. As the teens gathered their school supplies and began down the Hill, any family members who could come assembled to see them off. There, spread across Green McAdoo’s playground and steps, were Jo Ann Allen’s little sister and Bobby Cain’s younger siblings and some of the Hayden kids and countless cousins. (After all, wasn’t everybody on the Hill somehow related to these groundbreaking souls?) Few of the older folks were around to witness their trek, however. Most of their parents had already left for work, some in Oak Ridge, others in shops and homes around Clinton. Across the county, the adults must’ve glanced up at the nearest clock and whispered a plea. Perhaps William Turner, janitor at Green McAdoo, stepped out to the school’s arched brick entryway to watch his daughter Regina stride forward, notebook and pen in hand, ready for her junior year.

Half brothers Alfred Williams and Maurice Soles walked side by side down the Hill, a senior and a freshman. Their uncle had brought them back to Clinton specifically for this day, uprooting them from their grandmother’s house in Alabama and transferring them out of their high school so they could participate in the Clinton High experiment. No matter how the coming year went, they knew they needed to have each other’s backs. Neither one was real tall in stature. No, they were about the slightest of the group, but at least they could stick together.

Up until a few weeks before, Alfred and Maurice and the other Black students had paid scant attention to the judicial battle over Clinton High’s desegregation. Sure, folks had talked six years earlier when a handful of Black teens had sued for the right to enter Clinton High. There was no Black high school in the county, so the administrators had bused students to a failing high school in LaFollette an hour away and in a totally different county. The students and their lawyers had called the arrangement separate and unequal. No one was surprised when they’d lost at trial—white students from rural parts of the county were bused at least as far as the Black students were, the judge reasoned—and the case spent years pending in the federal court of appeals. Most felt the lawsuit had accomplished some good, though, because the county transferred the Black kids from failing LaFollette Colored High to the much more academically rigorous Austin High in Knoxville. But then in 1954, the Supreme Court released their first decision ending school segregation. They followed up that ruling in 1955, announcing that desegregation needed to happen with “all deliberate speed.” Based on that, the judge hearing the Anderson County case had declared that Clinton High would desegregate in the fall of 1956. A handful of other judges mandated a similar timeline for pending cases in Kentucky and Texas, but those schools wouldn’t open until after Labor Day.

Even after the ruling, most of the Black teens in Clinton didn’t think desegregation would happen, not there. Segregation defined every action off the Hill from shopping to eating to working. Who could imagine life without those strictures? Surely, the white people would find some way to sidestep the court ruling. Separate Black schools were even written into the state’s constitution. Any school that refused to abide by segregation was to lose state funding. Who would upend a structure that buttressed an entire culture?

And so when the 1955–56 school year ended in May, they’d made plans to return to Austin High School in Knoxville. Bobby Cain put down a deposit on his senior prom. Regina Turner adjusted her class schedule and hoped the talk of desegregation would disappear. She didn’t want to go to Clinton High, didn’t want to try to convince the white people she was good enough for their school. Alfred Williams assumed he’d graduate with his friends back in Anniston, Alabama. But then his uncle Steve had told his nephews they’d be coming to live with him in Clinton that year. He and the rest of the teenagers’ parents and guardians had agreed that the teens would force Anderson County to follow the court order. These kids would claim the promise of the American dream for all future Black and brown children. They’d prove Brown v. Board could be forced upon the South, and it could happen immediately.

The ten students crossed the railroad tracks and followed West Broad Street as it descended toward Hillcrest Street. Jo Ann was surprised and relieved to see that there weren’t many protestors awaiting them. According to local gossip, Mayor W. E. Lewallen and Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. and Clinton Courier-News editor Horace V. Wells all thought their town was ready to change American history. Looking now at the small group of people awaiting the new students, Jo Ann thought that maybe they were right. Maybe Clinton really was “one of the most tolerant little towns” in America.

No one would later agree on how many protestors had been there that day. Less than a dozen? Thirty? Fifty? Closer to seventy-five? The number depended on who was doing the reporting: a segregationist, a town official, or one of the handful of local journalists covering the event (and it was mostly local reporters for now, plus one stringer from Chicago’s Black paper). Let’s go with the most likely one, the one Horace Wells printed in the Clinton Courier-News. Twenty or so older white men stood, watching the Black students approach. Just past them was a clump of some thirty-odd white protestors, mainly women and a handful of teenage kids. Or perhaps it was thirty teenagers and twenty-five adults. The kids—Jo Ann’s classmates?—carried handwritten signs: “We the students of Clinton Hi don’t want Negroes in our school” and “Integration? No” and “We don’t want to go to school with niggers.” Papers fluttered in their hands, pamphlets to be handed out to passersby warning that the fluoride in the water was a secret government mind-control mechanism, Eisenhower was a tyrant, “Race mongrelism is contempt for the Creator,” and they should “Destroy the reds. FIGHT RACE HATERS.”

One of the teens outside the school that morning was John Carter, a smooth-faced kid with a lanky build and close-cropped, light-colored hair. Lately, he’d been something of a local celebrity. It started the previous March when a rabid fox had attacked his pet dog. Enraged, John had grabbed a shovel and bashed the fox about the head. John won the fight, but before it died the fox bit John on both hands. Testing showed the fox was rabid, so John had to undergo a painful and expensive treatment: twenty-three abdominal inoculations. A few weeks later while still getting shots in his stomach, John stepped back into the local news by winning the district 4-H speaking championship. His address was “Responsibilities of Good Citizenship.” And John had lived out his good citizenship: 4-H chapter secretary one year, vice president the next, and now three years as president. He’d also won multiple trophies for his beef cattle projects. And he was a member of the Clinton High football team. For his prowess in composing and delivering his address, the district office awarded him twenty-five dollars and took him to Nashville to compete at the state level.

That August, John should have been starting his junior year at Clinton, ready to thrive as an upperclassman. Instead, he stood on the street outside the school door with a poster strung around his neck: “WE WON’T GO TO SCHOOL WITH NEGROES.” For him, this was the next iteration of good citizenship: fighting for the white Southerners’ way of life and maintaining the racial order set up by God.



Looking at the ragtag assembly—a pitiful sight, really, when you thought that today might be the loss of all that white Southerners supposedly held dear—the assistant police chief told a journalist that the low numbers proved that desegregation wasn’t going to be a big thing. Even the ones who had shown up with signs didn’t really mean anything by it. “They’re just boys from the country come to see the show,” he said.

The low numbers were a disappointment to the protest’s organizers. “There was supposed to be a lot more of us, but they didn’t show up,” a picketing teenager told a local reporter. “They just talked big.”

The network of segregationists had mobilized the previous January when the federal courts had ruled on Clinton High. They scaffolded their efforts on those begun a year earlier in neighboring Oak Ridge. Built as one of the Manhattan Project’s secret cities, Oak Ridge was transformed into a military installation after World War II. Now it was being slowly transitioned to civilian control. It had been subject to the executive orders desegregating the armed services beginning in 1948, but because of the base’s peculiar position, the schools had remained untouched until the Supreme Court announced their first Brown v. Board verdict. With that decree, the Atomic Energy Commission ordered the community to obey it. The decision to integrate the base’s schools, adding eighty-five Black students to Oak Ridge classrooms, had frustrated many white folks, but few were ready to challenge the federal government while living and working on a federal installation. And so the problems had stayed within the high school: a few fistfights, a smattering of hollered slurs, a couple graffiti incidents. Other moments seemed hopeful. Some of the white students even stood up for their Black peers, like when the physics and chemistry classes went on a field trip to the space center in Huntsville, Alabama, and a restaurant refused to serve the one Black student in the group. All the white students walked out alongside him.

Overall, Clinton’s white leaders thought, the lesson from Oak Ridge High and the schools in Arkansas was that desegregation was going to happen, at least in the short term, whether they liked it or not. And none of them liked it. But they were balancing their beliefs against other political and professional goals. They would not aid desegregation. They would not plan for it. They would never support it. Neither would they take to the streets against it.

For other white people, however, Oak Ridge taught a different lesson. It showed that segregation was not the foregone establishment they’d assumed it was. Oak Ridge answered to the feds, but if Clinton High desegregated, it would set a precedent for other schools in Tennessee and across the nation. The stakes were too high for them to meekly obey. When the federal judge mandated Clinton High enroll Black students, members of a group calling itself the Tennessee Federation for Constitutional Government assembled a mailing list of sympathizers. Soon chapters had popped up across the state, and the clubs sent money back to Anderson County to fund resistance efforts there. They also sent lobbyists to Tennessee’s legislature, asking the representatives to obey the state constitution and pull state funds from any desegregated schools.

One of the local leaders for the Tennessee Federation for Constitutional Government was Oak Ridge machinist Willard Till. The Tills had only been in Anderson County for a couple years, coming from Raleigh, North Carolina. They’d probably moved because of the amazing career opportunities Oak Ridge offered to inventive machinists. Willard was a tinkerer, always coming up with ways to improve the gadgets around him. In 1948, one of his inventions, “Auxiliary Support for Use with Ironing Boards,” had even merited a patent.

A sturdy man—six feet tall with gray eyes and brown hair—Willard had once been a boxer, competing in the local Golden Gloves competitions and making his way to the North Carolina state finals in the light heavy division. In 1940, he’d put his boxing days behind him when he married Frances Amanda Williams in front of a justice of the peace. The young couple was fun and not opposed to a little showboating, so they’d planned an unconventional ceremony performed before a couple thousand barn dancers gathered for a Saturday night hoedown. “That’s the biggest audience for a wedding that I have ever seen,” their officiant told a reporter for the Raleigh News and Observer. They didn’t have long to settle into family life. Within a few months, Willard’s draft number came up. He enlisted in the Civilian Air Patrol, became a pilot, and was made a lieutenant. Then he helped drive German submarines away from the Eastern United States. When he returned from war, Willard and Frances started on their family, having a daughter in 1946 and a son in 1949.

Willard was a God-fearing, churchgoing man, so as soon as the Tills arrived in Clinton, they’d gotten themselves settled into First Baptist Church. Then they’d stepped on up when asked to take over leadership positions in the congregation. Willard had never smoked and never drank and held no grudges against anybody. Sure, he opposed the mixing of the races in that high school, but it wasn’t because he was a hateful man, he told himself as he geared up for the fight ahead. It was because he was a good man, a steadfast man, a man who knew the difference between right and wrong, a white man who was willing to do what was uncomfortable to protect the Southern way of life, that way of life that generations of his forefathers had been willing to die to save because they understood that it was the way God had arranged the world. And being an American meant standing up to tyranny.



Racism was an essential ingredient in the potent mix of hatred and activism that was stirring in Clinton’s white neighborhoods, but local white people were also sick and tired of the federal government meddling in their lives. They thought desegregation was Clinton’s Fourth Reconstruction, the fourth federal incursion into the community. The first happened when the Union Army seized control of the region, freed the slaves, instituted martial law, and disenfranchised unrepentant Confederates. The second occurred in 1936 when the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) constructed Norris Dam just seven miles from town. The project created jobs and wired the mountains for electricity, but it also cost local farmers thirty-four thousand acres of rich bottomland, land the federal government confiscated at a questionable rate, forcing many farming families into the textile mills and coal mines. In addition, it killed the Clinch’s oysters, ending the pearl trade. What one local historian called “the third invasion of the damn Yankees” came a few years later when President Roosevelt decided to place one of the three Manhattan Project sites seven miles to the other side of Clinton. Oak Ridge ate up another fifty-five thousand acres of farmland. Some farmers were evacuated before they’d even had time to gather up their livestock. The secret city drew in outsiders, all those physicists and secretaries and engineers and administrators with their elite educations and liberal ideas. Many white locals felt dispossessed politically and geographically and economically. Some were about ready to win one of these skirmishes with the feds.

The first step was assessing who was an ally of the segregationist cause. Over the summer of ’56, members of the Tennessee Federation for Constitutional Government circulated a petition protesting desegregation. Four hundred and twenty-four local white folks—almost 11 percent of Clinton’s total population—signed it, scrawling their names and addresses on the five-by-eight sheets of folded white notepaper. “We (the undersigned) are against Negroes entering Clinton High School or any other White School in Anderson County, Tennessee,” someone had typed across the top of all twenty-one pages. They submitted the petition to the local court system on August 12. The judge denied their request. They filed the motion to strip Clinton High of state funds about a week later.

Local white leaders—the mayor, the newspaper editor, the school superintendent, every white pastor in town—also publicly opposed desegregation, but most weren’t willing to march for it. Theirs was a pragmatic decision. Over the preceding decades, they had forged valuable relationships in D.C. Their influence was disproportionate to their size. State senators, cabinet members, and other officials now made tours through Anderson County, currying favor with the Clinton politicians who had made the TVA and Oak Ridge possible. In 1956, both presidential candidates would make detours to drive through, delivering speeches. Some local white officials also benefited economically by playing nice with Washington. The federal projects of the Second and Third Reconstructions had made Anderson County the wealthiest county in Southern Appalachia. Local businesses profited off the new residents who came to work at the sites; federal agencies invested money in the county’s infrastructure.

And so municipal leaders decided they would obey the letter of the new court ruling but not the spirit of it. They would concede to the federal authorities that the law of the land called for desegregation… but they would refuse to help implement it. They would not even set up policies for how a desegregated Clinton High School would function. And they would protect the town’s white spaces and white institutions from any trouble that might arise. They were prepared to squash any person who threatened Clinton’s good name, people like those rabble-rousers calling themselves the Tennessee Federation for Constitutional Government who had promised to make a scene on the first day of the new school year.

Would the white officials be protecting the Black community, though? Well, they’d stirred all this up for themselves, hadn’t they?



Though the picketers had been shouting and booing throughout the morning, they stilled when the ten Black students appeared. The phalanx of Black teens also stopped talking as they continued along the concrete sidewalk toward Clinton High. Kinda eerie, Jo Ann thought, this unnatural silence on the first day of school, when everyone who’d been away at camp or on vacation met up with those who’d stayed behind, helping out around the house or watching younger siblings or holding down summer jobs.

Now the Black students had reached the corner of the school’s property. Clinton High had been built into the bottom edges of the Hill, and the sidewalk continued on down the embankment for a while before a set of stone steps on the left took visitors up to the building’s front doors. At the upper corner of the grounds, the ten Black students were eye level with their new classmates, but every step inched them farther down the Hill until their heads were below the white teens’ feet. Had they ever noticed this before, how vulnerable the sidewalk made pedestrians on this stretch of road? Then the ten teenagers turned left and climbed the stone steps up to the schoolyard, toward the building. They walked through the assembled white high schoolers.

Alfred Williams recognized many of his new classmates. Some were nodding acquaintances. A few were fishing buddies. And there were the white boys he’d played football with over the summer, meeting up in the fields and glades around town where segregation wasn’t as tight, at least not for kids. The games weren’t official, of course, just ad hoc matches put together when teens found themselves with little to do. Now he looked the other boys over. How large some of them were, about like grown people!

As they trudged along the path, Jo Ann saw some of the white kids sneaking looks at her, studying her from behind new notebooks. Others took quick, shy glances, making eye contact, smiling slightly, then turning back to their friends. One group of white boys gathered by the front door, jeans freshly pressed and short-sleeve shirts tucked in, sneered at the Black students as they climbed the final five steps into the building. A young woman in a black sailor dress a size too large stood on the first step, nostrils flaring as though she smelled something unpleasant.

But the Black students—Jo Ann Allen, Bobby Cain, Anna Theresser Caswell, Minnie Ann Dickie, Gail Ann Epps, Ronald Hayden, William Latham, Alvah Jay McSwain, Regina Turner, Maurice Soles, Robert Thacker, and Alfred Williams—had breached the double glass doors of the school without incident. Surely, that alone counted as a success.





[image: ]


TWO Wynona’s Fight


Wynona McSwain fired up the stove at the Anderson County Jail, a two-story, heavy stone building near the courthouse. As she went about her morning chores as cook and cleaner for the two jailers and their inmates, she must’ve watched the clock, wondering where her daughter was on the journey into Clinton High. Alvah Jay, just a freshman in high school, was the fourth youngest of Wynona’s nineteen children. She was such a little thing to send out to change the world, but Wynona had tried to raise her girl to do what was right, stand against those who spread hate, and demand what was her due. She’d taught Alvah her worth, that her value and her potential was so much higher than the world around her recognized.

Wynona had treasured each of her nineteen kids, though by 1956 only twelve were still living. Seven had been lost, mostly to preventable causes, ripped away from Wynona by poverty and racism. Like her son Harrison, who had died in 1936 of diphtheria, a wrenching way for a child to go. At first, Wynona wouldn’t have known what was wrong with him. Somewhere between two and five days after he’d contracted the illness, he would have complained he was feeling puny, all tired and achy, and his throat hurt. When she felt his forehead, he would have been running a fever, one high enough to stay home from school but not high enough to alarm her. He probably would have refused to eat, something she might have blamed on his sore throat. What she couldn’t have seen, however, was that a bluish membrane the color of a hot flame had colonized his tonsils and was creeping across his larynx. Soon—maybe the next day or the day after that—it would have begun to block Harrison’s breathing, causing the air to rasp in and out of his lungs. Then Wynona would’ve known what the disease was, but what could she do? In this segregated time, was there a doctor who would come see Harrison, a Black child? Could his family have afforded it, even if a physician was willing to climb the Hill? The infection would have progressed. It may have begun to eat through the lining of his throat, the scabbing blood turning the membrane black. A few days later, his neck itself would have swelled, a condition folks called bull neck. Soon he’d have gone pale, his pulse would have raced, and then he would have lost consciousness. He would have been dead within a fortnight.

When Wynona was a child, many American kids died this way, as many as fifteen thousand a year. But then researchers developed an effective vaccine. By the mid-1920s, it was saving lives across the United States. Everyone had heard about the miracle the drug could perform, especially after an outbreak of the disease threatened remote Nome, Alaska, in January 1925. Dog mushers rushed the vaccine across the countryside and saved the town (a trek known then as the Great Race of Mercy or the Great Serum Run that is still commemorated annually as the Iditarod race). Soon, the children of Anderson County lined up for the shot, administered by the local health department at local schools. Or at least at white schools. The campaign did not reach the Black children of the Hill.

For the sake of her surviving children, Wynona had looked for ways to improve their lots. That was why she had launched her campaign to overhaul Black education in Anderson County some sixteen years earlier. And here it was, the moment when segregated education in Clinton ended and her daughter Alvah Jay would finally receive the schooling she deserved. Wynona hoped her child understood why her parents and older siblings had sent her down the Hill. Was the girl worried about her role in what her family had fought for? Did Alvah see how this could benefit her? Or would she resent being sent to that school?



Now, Wynona had truck with the education her kids had gotten over at Green McAdoo, a fine enough school where the teachers did their best, though it was just two of them managing as many as ninety students. And yes, they had to cover all classes from kindergarten through eighth grade. Still, the students graduated knowing all the basics. And the building wasn’t too bad either, especially since the county had gotten spooked about integration and started upgrading the facilities.

She must’ve liked, too, that in 1947 the town’s white leaders had voted to rename the school for Green McAdoo. Course, to the white townspeople, Green McAdoo was the courthouse janitor who’d served the town for twenty-four years. The Black residents on the Hill, however, knew him as a war hero from a family of war heroes. The tradition had started with his brother John, who during the Civil War had been a member of the United States Colored Troops, enlisting in the First Regiment, Heavy Artillery, as a private. His bravery had earned him a promotion to corporal. Green McAdoo had followed his brother in 1878, joining the ranks of Black men sent west to fight against the tribes who were refusing to cede their land to white settlers. They were nicknamed the Buffalo Soldiers. During his fifteen years of service, Green built and repaired the roads that allowed the United States Army and the white settlers to move between forts. Now, years after his death, he was receiving some recognition.

The spot where Green McAdoo Grammar School now stood had been the site of a series of Black schools. When Emancipation came, the freedpeople who settled the Hill had built a small frame building in the center of their new community. It was a multipurpose space: church on the weekends and school during the week. The teacher was a Northern-born Black woman sent by the Presbyterians. One visitor reported that it was “one of the best buildings, and one of the best schools, taught by one of the best teachers, in this part of the state.” The residents of the Hill had prioritized the school because everyone in the South knew education brought freedom. People who could read their work contracts and lease agreements and terms of purchase were harder to control and to trick than those who did not know their rights. And so Clinton’s Black residents packed the new schoolhouse with kids during the daylight hours and adults at night after work.

One of the Black residents of Anderson County who was a particular champion for education was Adaline Staples Crozier, Jo Ann Allen’s maternal great-great-grandmother. Adaline had been born into slavery in Oliver Springs, a crossroads on the Anderson County/Roane County line. Family tradition held she was actually the daughter of the plantation owner, which might’ve been the reason she and her brother Isaac had been taught to read and write. Unlike in many other Southern states, literacy wasn’t illegal for enslaved people in Tennessee, but it remained rare, especially in the mountains, where only about 10 percent of the people in captivity learned to read and fewer than 2 percent could write. After the Civil War, Isaac had headed to a community eight miles the other side of Clinton, a town then known as Coal Creek that was renamed Lake City after the TVA closed Norris Dam. There he helped build the first Black school in the area. Back in Oliver Springs, Adaline and her husband, Henry Crozier, made their marriage legal, something denied them during slavery days. Then they went about raising their children for freedom. All the Croziers’ babies went to school, and then their grandbabies did, right on down to Jo Ann and her generation.

Because education gave the Croziers and other Black families greater control over their own destinies, white Southerners targeted schools like the one on the top of Freedman’s Hill. Early on Sunday morning, March 7, 1869, just four years after the end of the Civil War, arsonists set fire to Clinton’s Black school/church and burned it to the ground. One of the only surviving relics was a blackboard on which the teacher had scrawled: “Three Cheers for U.S. Grant, President of U. States.”

The former Confederates were winning back their political power, too. That same year, Tennessee’s Republican governor, who worried he would be unseated by a more radical Republican, gave the right to vote back to most of Tennessee’s former Confederates. Conservative white politicians immediately seized control of the statehouse and repealed the law mandating public education for all children across the state. Instead, each county could decide for itself. In 1873, statewide public education was reinstated, but its implementation was still spotty. Then in 1877, the last of the Federal troops withdrew from the South, leaving Black Tennesseans without any protection or recourse.

Segregation wove its way even more deeply into the nation’s legal system in 1896. That year, the United States Supreme Court decided Plessy v. Ferguson, a case brought by a Black man in Louisiana who bought a first-class train ticket and then demanded to sit in the first-class, white-only car. The Supreme Court ruled for the defense, claiming that as long as segregation was equal, it was constitutional. Southern justices, however, made no effort to guarantee equality. It was expensive to maintain two separate school systems, so white leaders consistently and systematically underfunded Black education, giving white children more resources.

In Clinton, this meant that in 1935 when the town accepted federal funds to build a two-room grammar school for the Black children, the school board did not provide them with the same facilities as they built at the newly erected Clinton Grammar School for white children down the Hill. At Clinton Colored, they refused to construct a cafeteria or a gymnasium. The Black students also had older, rattier textbooks, fewer extracurricular activities, and less equipment.

And while the board was willing to build a new elementary school using state funds, they had no interest in creating a Black secondary school. They declared it was financially impossible because of the small numbers of Black students. In fact, they said, it was illegal. State law mandated high schools for communities that had seventy-five students or more, but the county only had a couple dozen Black teenagers. That didn’t really make building a secondary school illegal, but it did make it easy to avoid erecting one anytime soon.

Well into the twentieth century, Anderson County provided no high school for its Black youth. Parents who wanted their children to continue past Green McAdoo had to either scrape together the money for a boarding school or ship them off to live with relatives in a community with a Black high school.



In 1939, a confederation of Clinton’s Black leaders—some of whom were descendants of Green McAdoo, Adaline Crozier, and Isaac Staples—began gathering signatures from the Black families inside Clinton’s city limits as well as those scattered across Anderson County whose children attended smaller one-room schools. They wandered from Lake City to Claxton to Wheat, meeting with parents and arguing that if the county refused to build a school for Black teenagers to attend, then they had to provide transportation and tuition to a Black secondary school in a neighboring county. (County property taxes make up the bulk of funding in most school districts, so when a student attends an out-of-county school, their parents essentially pay taxes to two counties.) Hoping to seem reasonable and responsible and economical, the school board eventually agreed to pay for tuition, but it told the families to cover the transportation costs. The board arranged for the students to go to LaFollette Colored High, a failing school about twenty-five miles away with few electives or advanced-level classes.

But a failing school a county away wasn’t good enough for Wynona McSwain and her kids. She knew an unaccredited school with only a smattering of college prep courses wouldn’t give her children the academic background they needed to thrive in the twentieth century.

As an adolescent, Wynona had read the Pan-Africanist activist Marcus Garvey and dreamed of sailing away to Africa with him on one of the ships in his Black Star Shipping Line, of escaping the injustice of racism in America and building a better, freer world on the continent kidnappers had stolen her ancestors away from. Life for a poor Black Southern girl like Wynona didn’t offer many such chances, however. She’d fallen in love with Allen McSwain while still in her early teens and married young just like her momma had before her. She and her husband, Allen, had built a good life for themselves in Clinton, but she hoped her children would have better, would have the more she’d always wanted. She’d even named one of her middle sons Ras Tafari, a nod to her pan-Africanist, liberationist leanings. Thankfully, Allen felt the same. They wouldn’t settle for LaFollette Colored High, not for their kids. So in 1942, the McSwains sent Eula, their eldest, to Allen High School in Asheville, North Carolina, a private, accredited boarding school for Black girls that was subsidized and operated by the predominately white Women’s Division of Christian Service, a mission of the Methodist church. The school did offer a few vocational classes like hairdressing, but it didn’t shuttle the girls into working-class positions. Almost half of its students went on to college.

At some point, the McSwains convinced the county to cough up part of the tuition. After all, if they were cutting and mailing a check to school officials in LaFollette, then they could just as easily send a check to Asheville. Perhaps because of that, Wynona and her husband sent Lela, their second-oldest child, to Allen High as well. Then came a son. They sent him to school in Nashville, where he roomed with Wynona’s half sister. She lived about four blocks from Pearl High School, a sprawling art deco building featuring separate labs for biology, physics, and chemistry, extensive athletic facilities, a well-stocked library, and an excellent music program. Perhaps that’s where he was enrolled.

By the end of the decade, the McSwains had put three daughters through Allen High and sent their second son off to school. In 1949, however, Wynona got a call at work from her son, Ethridge. He had followed his older brother to Nashville.

Now why was he calling her in the middle of his school day? she demanded.

He wasn’t playing hooky, he reassured her. He’d tried to go to class, but the administration had ordered him out of the room. Anderson County hadn’t mailed their part of his tuition check.

Alarmed, Wynona rushed over to the county superintendent of education’s office half a block down from the jail.

Where is the payment? she asked him.

Well, see, he said, we’ve cut the check, but we haven’t mailed it yet.

Why not? she demanded.

We’re not so sure we want to keep paying for your kids to go to these fancy schools, he said. Tell you what, we’ll mail this one last check. I’ll put it in the post myself tomorrow, but this is it. No more.

Wynona knew he meant it. She’d have to find an alternative. And so the following summer, in August 1950, five Black high school students—among them one of Wynona’s middle daughters, JoheatherI McSwain—walked into the principal’s office in Clinton High. One of the teens had seen an ad in the Clinton Courier-News reminding students to register for the upcoming semester. It said “students enroll,” he later testified in federal court. “Didn’t say white, black, yellow, green, blue.” Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. refused to register the high schoolers and sent them to see the county’s school superintendent, who monitored the various local principals and oversaw finances and had refused to send any more tuition checks to the McSwain kids’ chosen schools. The superintendent also turned them down.

It was a risky move. City Attorney William Buford Lewallen (locals called him Buford) warned the school officials that if the Black parents wanted to turn this into a lawsuit, they had a chance of winning. Over the previous decade, Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. had transformed Clinton High School into one of the best schools in the state, far better than that LaFollette Colored High. If the school board wanted to claim that the county’s Black pupils were getting an education equal to their white peers, they needed to send them to a better school.

After surveying the nearby options, the county announced they would be transferring the students over to Knoxville’s Austin High School. Austin High wasn’t as convenient as Clinton High would’ve been, but it was an academic improvement over LaFollette. The facilities were newer, and many of the teachers had trained at Knoxville College, a Black liberal arts institution founded in 1875 by the United Presbyterian Church. This meant students at Austin had teachers who added cultural stimulation to their lives and modeled what Black education and success looked like. Joheather enrolled in the Knoxville school.

Still, Wynona wasn’t satisfied. The limited Greyhound bus schedule and the hour-long ride kept Joheather from joining in extracurricular activities. By being shipped out of the county, Joheather and the other children were missing out on all that a secondary education could offer to them, opportunities they would receive at Clinton High. Clinton’s Black teenagers deserved the best education, and the best education wasn’t found thirty-nine miles away where they could only be present for the school day itself, where they couldn’t participate in drama and music and sports and arts and dances and parties. Jo Ann Allen, a good eight years younger than Joheather, only attended one social event at Austin: the homecoming football game during the fall of her sophomore year. She bought a new coat in celebration. She sat in the stands, feeling so gorgeous, cheering and yelling for her team.

The families also worried about the days when the students couldn’t reach school at all. Winters in Appalachia can be unpredictable, and the two-lane highway connecting Clinton and Knoxville ran through a narrow mountain pass. During inclement weather, the twisting road quickly became impassable, washing away or icing over. Sometimes the students were late to class; other times they missed school for days in a row.

Besides, a good education wasn’t just about reading, writing, and arithmetic, nor was it only about the clubs joined and the parties attended. The right schooling could bring economic and political freedom. When a Clinton High graduate applied for a job, a prospective employer knew what that meant. No one called their education second-rate the way they did when a kid presented a diploma from a Black school, even one as good as Austin. Knowing they had the same credentials as their white peers would prompt more Black Clintonians to demand their places in the world, some Black parents and educators posited. A kid who sat in a classroom at Clinton High would demand to sit on the first floor of the Ritz Theater rather than in the balcony. They would insist on eating at the Hoskins lunch counter rather than taking their milkshake to go. They would expect to try on hats at the Lewallen-Miller Department Store and ride in any bus seat and work at any job. And the white students who had sat at the desks nearby would be more inclined to loosen racialized constraints.

When the principal and the superintendent turned away Joheather and the others, Wynona went to visit with Knoxville’s chapter of the NAACP. The NAACP had a cadre of lawyers prepared to handle Tennessee’s civil rights cases, all of whom answered to Thurgood Marshall, executive director of the NAACP’s Legal Defense Fund who was implementing the organization’s plan to desegregate education. Z. Alexander Looby of Nashville was delegated to head up the lawsuit. A noted civil rights lawyer, Alexander had argued alongside Thurgood for over a decade. Their first case together was the defense of twenty-five Black men accused of attempted murder following a 1946 riot in Columbia, Tennessee. Twenty-four of the twenty-five were acquitted. The NAACP also assigned two Knoxville lawyers to assist on the case: Avon Williams—Thurgood Marshall’s first cousin—and Carl Cowan. In addition to fighting for others’ civil rights, all three of the attorneys would break color barriers themselves. In 1951, Z. Alexander Looby would be the first Black Nashvillian elected to the city council since 1911. In 1953, Carl Cowan would become Knox County’s first Black district attorney. And in 1969, Avon Williams would become the first Black senator elected in the state.

About twenty years earlier, Thurgood Marshall and his mentor Charles Hamilton Houston had identified education as the place where segregation was weakest, as the part of American culture where government-sponsored separate and unequal was the most obviously illustrated. They had started with professional graduate schools, convincing the courts to rule that sending Black students to other states or to substandard professional schools rather than opening previously all-white state institutions to them was a violation of the students’ constitutional rights. Then they chipped away at segregationists’ work-arounds, winning rulings that white universities couldn’t simply found substandard Black departments on the same campuses, nor could the institutions put Black students in a separate part of the same classroom. And no, they couldn’t seat them in the hallway, either. With all those precedents set, by 1950, the lawyers were ready to tackle the nation’s public school system.

Now the team of lawyers got to work on behalf of Clinton’s Black teens, though the attorneys thought other challenges to segregation more likely to succeed now that the Black high school and the white high school were academically close to equal. Most white leaders likewise assumed the case would die in court, and most white townspeople paid it little attention. Nevertheless, on December 5, 1950, James and William Dickie, Joheather McSwain, and Lillian and Shirley Willis and their parents filed suit against the Anderson County Board of Education and its representatives. (Though the case name would be shortened to bear Joheather’s name alone, perhaps in recognition of Wynona’s advocacy, all five students were equal plaintiffs.) Sure enough, the Anderson County school board won the first phase of the lawsuit.

Clinton was a consolidated high school, drawing white students from all over the county, Federal Judge Robert Love Taylor explained in his decision. Yes, a few went to Lake City High, and others attended Oliver Springs High, shared with Roane County. But for many, Clinton was the default option. Some of those white teens were coming at least as far as the Black youths were sent, the judge reasoned. That meant education in Clinton was actually separate and equal, he concluded.

The Clinton plaintiffs appealed the decision, but in 1952 their case stalled, placed on hold pending the Supreme Court’s decision in Oliver Brown et al. v. Board of Education of Topeka, Shawnee County, Kansas, et al., which was itself a consolidation of five different segregation cases from across the country that the Supreme Court chose to hear together. Each of the cases we now know simply as Brown v. Board challenged educational segregation from a slightly different angle. Black elementary school students in Topeka, Kansas, weren’t permitted to attend the schools nearest their homes. In Delaware, Black kids were being sent to a run-down school in a different town while white children were bused to a much better one. Washington, D.C., had built a new high school for white students, but several of the classrooms sat empty and Black parents wanted their kids to be able to use those facilities. Teens in Virginia had organized a two-week strike protesting their terrible building, an overcrowded tar-paper shack. And parents in South Carolina had originally asked that their children have buses to ride to school. When the county denied their request, they sued for full desegregation.

Because of the number of plaintiffs and defendants involved in the Brown v. Board case, the court heard the arguments over the course of several sessions, starting in December of 1952, continuing in October of 1953, and finally issuing their decision in the spring of 1954. The Anderson County school board took those extra years to better local Black education, hoping to placate the families and the courts by adding a gymnasium, cafeteria, and kindergarten to Green McAdoo.

On May 17, 1954, the Supreme Court issued a unanimous opinion in Brown v. Board finding that segregated facilities were inherently unjust and did psychological damage to both Black and white children. They placed no time frame on the implementation of their desegregation decision, however. Instead, they asked for desegregation plans from the attorneys general of every state that had segregated educational systems and then held more hearings. A year after their initial decision, the justices issued an order popularly known as Brown II mandating that American public schools would desegregate with “all deliberate speed.” In many places, white leaders used the vague wording of that dictate to justify decades of dillydallying. Surely they were showing deliberate speed so long as they were debating desegregation? After all, the phrase had evolved from the English chancery, the original phrase being “speed thee slowly,” which evolved into “make haste slowly” and then “all convenient speed.” Or, as Francis Thompson wrote in an 1893 poem, “But with unhurrying chase / And unperturbed pace / Deliberate speed, majestic instancy…”

But the school board in Clinton didn’t have that same room to shilly-shally. It was already snarled in a federal case. On June 3, 1954, three weeks after the Brown ruling, the federal appeals courts reactivated McSwain v. Anderson County and sent it back down to Judge Robert Taylor’s bench pending the Supreme Court’s decision on Brown II. In January 1956, Robert Taylor ruled that in Clinton “all deliberate speed” would mean that Black students must be allowed to attend the high school the following fall.

By August 1956, Joheather McSwain and her cohort had graduated from Austin and were making adult lives for themselves: as shop clerks, as homemakers, as soon-to-be recruits in the United States Army. Their families, however, were still embroiled in the fight for educational equality. Joheather’s little sister Alvah Jay was one of the kids walking into Clinton High that August morning. Walking alongside her was Minnie Ann Dickie, younger sister of Joheather’s co-plaintiffs James and William.

Not all the Black teenagers and their families thought enrolling at Clinton High sounded like a good idea, however. About thirty or so Black adolescents in Anderson County were of high school age. Half had already started jobs or simply did not want to go to a white high school. Others had trouble getting registered. Eddie Soles was the older brother of Maurice Soles and younger half brother of Alfred Williams; like them, his uncle/guardian Steve Williams had moved Eddie to Clinton specifically so he could attend Clinton High. But while Maurice’s and Alfred’s transcripts had arrived in Clinton on time, Eddie’s never turned up. Steve was an early soldier in the fight for civil rights who felt strongly that his nephews should not attend a Black high school when they were eligible to go to an integrated one. Eddie headed out to find a job. This was the end of his schooling. The fourth Soles/Williams brother, Charlie, had no desire to study at the white school and so enlisted in the armed forces.

Like Steve Williams, the adults who sent their children down to Clinton High knew they were joining the struggle for equality and justice and education. Many had been fighting for generations. Adaline Crozier’s descendants had inherited her love of learning. A year earlier, one of Adaline’s great-great-granddaughters had been among the eighty-five Black teens to desegregate Oak Ridge High School. Over in Lake City, one of Isaac’s granddaughters was using the lawsuit to improve Black education in that town as well. Now it was Jo Ann’s turn to take on Adaline’s cause.

And of course Alvah Jay McSwain. As Wynona’s daughter, she’d never questioned whether she’d enroll at Clinton High when her chance came. She knew it was her right to be there. And now she was doing it, this slim fifteen-year-old girl who’d inherited her mother’s narrow face. She was taking up her mother’s fight and changing American history. And so as the clock ticked on, Wynona cleaned and cooked and worried. Did Alvah Jay meet up with the other students all right? Had everyone else shown up? Was there any trouble on their way down?


	
I. Pronounced joe-HEE-tha.
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THREE Behind School Doors


Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. had known this day was coming for six years now, ever since that morning in August 1950 when five Black high school students and their parents had walked into his office and demanded that he enroll them in classes at Clinton High. While most white Clintonians assumed that the courts would defend their segregated educational system—it was enshrined in the state’s constitution, after all—D. J. had never believed the county would win. White and Black children had different training and opportunities, and eventually that would make segregated education vulnerable. He’d been right. So now here he stood, just inside the school’s doors, greeting the ten Black students who were coming down from the Hill.

A slight and bespectacled man, D. J. favored light gray suits cut a touch too big. The extra fabric folding around him made him look like an adolescent whose frugal mother still expected him to hit a growth spurt. Perhaps his appearance was what made the people around him underestimate his grit, seeing him as more scholar than hero.

D. J. was destined to be an educator. His father was the principal of Oliver Springs High School a scant sixteen miles away, straddling the Anderson County and Roane County lines. (The boundary between the two counties lay so exactly through the middle of Oliver Springs that the two county departments of education—which had enough white students to keep multiple, separate white elementary schools afloat—traded off which county funded the town’s only Black elementary school, each one supporting its budget on alternating years.) His mother taught, also. His uncle was the superintendent of schools in neighboring Roane County. And D. J. had married a teacher, Clarice, a home economics instructor.

After earning an M.Ed. from the University of Tennessee, Knoxville, he’d returned to Anderson County to teach and coach football at Clinton High School. Four years later he was appointed principal of nearby Lake City High, and in 1944 he’d been named principal of Clinton, where he used the money provided by increased tax revenues from the Manhattan Project folks to drag the typically troubled Appalachian educational institution up to being one of the best schools in the state. In 1944, the school had needed classroom space, teachers, and supplies. He’d triaged the situation, lobbying the Anderson County school board into adding two classrooms to the building. Then he’d pushed until they’d tacked on a home economics wing, a music department, and a gymnasium seating twenty-five hundred people, or almost two-thirds of Clinton’s total population. He found books for the new library, beakers for the chemistry department, and farmers to train the kids studying agriculture.

D. J. also courted energetic, creative young faculty. Since he couldn’t pay them what they earned elsewhere, he sold them on the altruistic side of teaching. They could help him rescue the next generation of Appalachian children from poverty and backwardness by demonstrating how to be responsible citizens who thought clearly and objectively; developed “moral, spiritual, and aesthetic values”; built their physical, mental, and emotional health; learned academic skills; prepared for the future; and made “wise use of their leisure time.” His plea worked. By the early 1950s, over half of Clinton High’s twenty-four faculty members had graduate degrees, and in 1952 the school earned an A-rating from the Tennessee State Department of Education. The following year, it became a member of the Southern Association of Colleges and Secondary Schools, which ranked it as an A-1 school, one of the best high schools in the South.

But Anderson County continued to grow, so Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. kept up his battle to stay ahead of the school’s needs. In the spring of ’56, he had launched another campaign to lessen the overcrowding at his school, challenging the people of Clinton to build a separate vocational high school for students with lower academic goals. Arguing this institution would help rural students guide their families’ farms into the atomic age, siphoning off the vocational-track students would also transform Clinton High into the academic institution D. J. dreamed of it being. The division of academic from vocational was what many rural parents wanted for their kids, he insisted. To illustrate this, he polled 742 parents who had children enrolled at Clinton High. Forty-one percent of them had never attended high school, D. J. discovered. Only 6 percent were engaged in work D. J. considered professional or semi-professional. He assumed all parents would want their children to follow in their career paths.

For now D. J. was setting aside that fight, however. He was navigating desegregation for the county, and he was doing it mostly on his own. The Anderson County school board—which should have formulated the desegregation plan, perhaps modeling it after one of the Arkansas desegregations—had left D. J. hanging, refusing for seven long months to get involved. (“Bunch of pantywaists,” teacher Celdon Medaris Lewallen said.) The board’s silence convinced the virulent segregationists that D. J. had a choice, that he could kick out the Black students if he wanted… or if he was put under enough pressure. D. J., however, thought his only option was to obey the law whether he agreed with it or not. And if he was going to obey the law, then he would do so with the efficacy with which he did everything else.

When the judge handed down his order, D. J. predicted that “with time, information, and an intelligent plan, the problem would work itself out with fairness to everyone.” And yes, he still hoped the problem would solve itself by a federal recommitment to segregation. Maybe a new law from Congress? Or a new segregation strategy approved by the Supreme Court? But just in case that didn’t happen, in the spring of 1956 he began discussing the ruling during faculty meetings, encouraging teachers to talk about desegregation with their students. D. J. also reached out to parents for help, attending specially called meetings of the Clinton High School Parent-Teacher Association so white parents could voice their concerns. He said his acquiescence to the law was simply patriotism. “The community should know that we are following the orders of the courts,” he told newspaper editor Horace Wells in early August. “Loyal Americans must always do so.”

D. J. was a little more honest with his students. They all had to make the best of the situation, he told the football team with fatalism and resignation a few weeks before school started. “When you lose, you lose,” he said. “You go ahead and play the game by the new rules.”

Every spring, D. J. traveled to Clinton High’s feeder schools, meeting the eighth-grade students matriculating in the coming fall. During these visits, he tested the pupils’ aptitude and readiness for high school–level classes, and based on their scores, the students joined the school’s vocational or college-bound tracks. In May 1956, Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. added a new stop on his tour, going to Green McAdoo to meet with the Black students and their families. He brought with him Margaret Anderson, Clinton High’s business and typing teacher. D. J. gave the teens the same test their white peers had taken. A month later, Margaret returned to Green McAdoo to help the students choose classes based on their scores.

While Margaret met with the students, D. J. talked with the parents, laying out just how limited desegregation would be. D. J. had read the order carefully and would maintain segregation wherever he could. He believed the races needed to remain separate socially. Sitting side by side during English or chemistry shouldn’t change that. The Black students could come to school, but they’d be sent straight back home again at the end of the day. No sports. No mixers. No sock hops. No clubs. No pep rallies. No parties. Yes, one of the major arguments for the original lawsuit had been that the distance to Austin High kept the Black teens from having their full high school experience. That was not his concern, D. J. warned the parents. The judge had mandated the students get educated, and D. J. would make sure that happened. Nothing more.

Still, he insisted on treating all his students decently, even when he hadn’t wanted them there. Based on their scores, several of the Black teens were eligible for entering the college track, so that was where Margaret counseled them to go.

And now the Black students were official Clinton High Dragons. The principal even smiled at them as he ushered them toward the auditorium for their first morning assembly.

As the bell rang, most of the white students followed their new peers through the school’s double doors. Across the street, three of the protesting teenagers handed off their signs and picked up their books. Abandoned pamphlets danced across the empty schoolyard. But some of the white students skipped school that day. “We’re not going to press them for the first few days at least,” D. J. told a local reporter. “And if they don’t want to attend our school, that’s alright, too.”

One of those students was Jerry Hamilton. His parents ordered him to enroll at Lake City High, a smaller school on the eastern edge of Anderson County that was not slated to desegregate. Since both of his parents worked and no county school bus would run him there, Jerry had to catch a ride with a relative who was a bit of a troublemaker. The principal met them at the door and told the two teenagers he didn’t really want them in his institution. By the end of the day, Jerry’s relative was expelled and Jerry was reenrolled at Clinton High.



The mass of white students flowed into the Clinton High auditorium and settled themselves onto wood seats. The teachers shut the school doors on the tumult outside, muffling the voices of the dispersing protestors. The downstairs filled and then the balcony, too, but still no one said anything to the Black students seated together on the ground floor, a spot they couldn’t occupy at the Ritz Theater downtown.

As senior Bobby Cain folded himself into one of the chairs and balanced his notebooks on his knees, he caught the eye of a white boy across the aisle. The other teen went oddly still, neither smiling nor looking away. This was a staring contest, Bobby realized. He was fighting for his right to be there by refusing to blink. What a stupid thing, but Bobby had to win. He kept the kid’s gaze, eyes burning. Then suddenly it was over. The white boy turned to a friend and started chatting as though nothing had happened. Bobby slumped back, so tired he didn’t know what to do. If he was already this exhausted, how would he survive the day?

The welcoming convocation kicked off, predictably unremarkable. The students pledged their allegiance to the American flag and bowed their heads for the school year’s christening prayer. They listened as D. J. Brittain Jr. talked about his hopes for the next nine months. This year was a record enrollment. Eight hundred and six students in Clinton High! Then everyone cheered for Jerry Shattuck, incoming student council president/captain of the football team. They doodled in their notebooks and whispered to their friends and calculated the easiest way to get through the crowd to their homerooms. And then the assembly was over, the kids dispersed, and the twelve Black students were on their own, diffused into a sea of white faces.

Robert Thacker leaned against the two-tone tan wall outside the auditorium, trying to get his bearings. The white students swirling and chatting around him kept a careful distance, averting their gazes as though they’d make him vanish by ignoring him. He curled his shoulders in a bit and scuffed his white buck shoes. Regina Turner and Alvah Jay McSwain walked to their first class together, clutching their books. Each looked past the other as white students jostled by.

But Jo Ann Allen had landed in Eleanor Davis’s homeroom. Eleanor, the honors senior English teacher, had been part of the desegregation debate since the first lawsuit back in 1950 when her husband, Sidney, was one of the attorneys arguing against the Black students and their parents. Like D. J. Brittain Jr., however, the Davises would obey the law even when they disagreed with it. This tepid endorsement made Eleanor one of the Black students’ strongest allies. Eleanor had a plan: she would begin as she intended to proceed. And she hoped there wouldn’t be trouble, but if any started, she would deal with it on her own. She’d never been a teacher who pawned students off on the office. Sending a kid to see the principal was a sign of weakness, a surrender of power.

Eleanor made a big deal out of Jo Ann’s first day, welcoming the girl and encouraging other juniors to get to know her. The white kids sitting at the desks around Jo Ann seemed excited to have a new face in their classroom. Then the teacher began her start-of-the-year business. After handing out schedules, she called for nominations. Clinton High’s student government was a multilayered representative structure that started in the homerooms. And Carole Peters, a white girl, nominated Jo Ann to be their vice president. Somebody else nominated one of the football players. Jo Ann was elected unanimously.

“It’s just that Jo Ann is so pretty and smart,” Carole told a reporter. And she “has such a wonderful personality.”

A few periods later, Jo Ann was in Clarice Brittain’s home economics class when Clarice asked Jo Ann if she’d let the white students ask her a few questions, an interrogation that was supposed to feel welcoming.

What did she like? they asked. And where did she get her cute clothes?

Thankfully, Jo Ann had a reasonable answer to that. She wasn’t any richer than her new friends, she told them. She just had a grandmother who sewed.

What an appropriate answer for a home ec class! Clarice bridged into what they’d be learning over the coming year.

All in all, Jo Ann thought, the day had gone swimmingly. Her new school might end up being even better than she’d let herself dream.

She wasn’t the only student to think their school year was off to a promising start. The Black students expected the white teachers to use assigned seats to create a miniaturized version of segregation, but none of them—not one!—had been ordered to sit along the wall or in the back or near the door. Not in a single class! Nope, they chose any desk they wanted. Same went in the cafeteria, where seven of the Black teenagers ate at a table near their white peers. Five of them, however, decided not to risk that. No one ate next to white people inside. So those five went off campus to eat. “We don’t want to force ourselves socially,” Minnie Ann Dickie explained. She and a couple other girls walked over to the jail to eat with Alvah Jay’s mother, Wynona.

After that first day, Gail Ann Epps was grinning when she got home. She told her mother, Anna Mae, and Aunt Mattie Bell she loved her new school. Anna Mae’s specialty was homemade blackberry jelly. Did she sit her daughter down to eat some jelly on leftover biscuits while Gail Ann told them about her day? Maybe when her aunt Mattie Bell—a woman who loved to talk politics and who had pushed for Gail Ann’s inclusion among the twelve—saw Gail Ann’s big smile, she breathed a sigh of relief.

When a reporter for the Chicago Defender, a Black newspaper, asked Robert Thacker and Alfred Williams about their day, the two boys said everyone was getting along so well that they thought Principal Brittain would change his mind and let them go to the school’s social events.

Why, they’d probably get to go to the homecoming dance, they said, though of course they’d “dance with Negro girls only.”

Robert Thacker was sanguine about these developments. Though he’d started out in a segregated elementary school in Toccopola, Mississippi, over the course of his seventeen years, he’d attended racially mixed schools in Michigan, Indiana, and Wisconsin, moving often as his parents searched for better jobs and more opportunities. Going to the same school as white kids and playing on their teams? Well, what was the big deal with that? “We are all just people,” he said.

Another boy asked to join an intramural basketball team and was told the coach wanted to wait and see what happened, which was much better than hearing a flat no. And Alvah Jay, who played the trumpet, thought she might get to join the Clinton High School Band. She could just see herself all decked out in their military-style uniforms, gold braid shoulder cords glinting as she marched under the football stadium lights.



Bobby Cain, however, was not as pleased with his first day at Clinton High. As he was one of two seniors, everyone saw him as a particular threat. If he survived the year, there’d be no going back. Even if the virulent segregationists resegregated the school the following year, Clinton High would always have a Black graduate. Though the classrooms were fine, white boys tried to intimidate him in the halls, bumping into him and blocking his way. When he got back to his house after the dismissal bell rang, he refused to tell his parents about his day. Instead, he slouched in a living room chair and “just kind of trembled for a little while.”

Many of the teachers were as hopeful as their new students were, but Margaret Anderson overheard D. J. Brittain Jr. mutter, “If we can get through the first two weeks, we’ll be all right.” Why was he so apprehensive when the day had been peaceful? But then later that afternoon, the couple dozen protestors who’d stuck around outside threw a glass soft drink bottle at a Black woman walking by. And then they pushed another Black woman down and broke her glasses. And then they forced a Black girl off the sidewalk. And then Fireman Sam Warden found a knife with an illegally long blade on the sidewalk outside the school.

And then that evening, several hundred white spectators gathered on the courthouse lawn for the first of what would become nightly rallies. Most of them were locals, so they treated this like an unexpected midweek festival, milling about as full dark fell, hallooing friends and shaking hands with neighbors. They drew nearer to the courthouse’s portico as the activities started, pressing forward to hear speaker after speaker—again mostly locals—urge them to defy the federal court.

Men who cared about protecting their wives and daughters from Black sexual predators, Communists, and “ ‘race mongrelizers’ ” would resist desegregation, the speakers preached (though they did not yet have a public address system to use, so the audience strained to catch their words). And they’d harass anyone attempting to implement it. “If you had a sheriff, if you have a police chief with any guts, he would arrest the first Negro student and the parents of that student to enter Clinton High School!” one of the men shouted. And don’t let them get started on that principal at the school. Didn’t he look a bit like a Jew?

That night, Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. received his first round of harassing phone calls. Nothing serious, no actual threats, just a constantly ringing phone with no voice on the other end. For him, there would be no rest nor respite on this long summer’s night.
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FOUR A Carpetbagging Troublemaker


Tuesday morning dawned unseasonably cool, edged with a crispness that promised autumn would arrive soon. Again, ten of the Black students met on the crest of the Hill to pray and gossip and walk the third of a mile down to Clinton High. Just over the railroad tracks, they passed a white woman digging in her garden. She threw a spadeful of dirt at the teens.

Unlike the day before, this morning the crowd awaiting them at Clinton High was not silent. There were seventy-five or maybe three hundred protestors. Or maybe it was thirty adults and a herd of children. Anyway, it was enough that the crowd could divide itself. On Monday morning, they’d hugged the sidewalk across from the school, keeping out of the road and away from the approaching teens. Tuesday, some of them broke off, crossed the street, and heckled the ten Black children as they walked down the road. The atmosphere in the schoolyard had also changed. The white students waiting at the top of the stairs stepped a little closer and glared a little more than the group stationed there the day before. The Black teenagers straightened their shoulders and marched through the school doors.

But still, when the bell rang for homeroom and the teachers called their classes to order, many of the people outside the school left. This morning, however, they weren’t headed home or to work. They were flooding into the county courthouse a few blocks away. Everyone was anxious to know the outcome of the first case on the morning’s docket: the town of Clinton v. John Kasper.

John Kasper was the local segregationist movement’s newest and most uncomfortable ally. The charismatic Columbia-educated, tall, clean-shaven man from New Jersey had arrived in Clinton on the previous Saturday’s afternoon bus. He had the sort of smallish, regular features that made him approachably handsome, and a few of the local white ladies had taken notice. The leaders of the local white separatist movement didn’t know what to make of him. He might be God’s answer to their cries for help, or he might be their undoing. With such an unexpected and unknown character, who could guess? (And this was before they learned that John was a man with a spotty past, especially on questions of racial purity.)

John had been a troubled child, unwilling to obey rules and difficult to control, so his parents had shipped him off to a series of military academies. Even these institutions had a hard time containing him. He was expelled from one school when he interrupted a Sunday school meeting, yelling that the church members around him were all “fakes and hypocrites.” Following this outburst, his parents took him to Philadelphia for psychological observation. But somehow, John didn’t just graduate from high school. He did well enough that he was admitted to Columbia University. There he fixated on the fascist poet Ezra Pound, incarcerated at St. Elizabeths Hospital, a psychiatric facility, so he wouldn’t be tried for treason for the four years of radio broadcasts he’d aired during World War II supporting Mussolini, Hitler, and the Holocaust. The summer between his junior and senior year, John traveled to Washington, D.C., to meet Ezra. After that encounter, the two men began a correspondence that would last almost a decade. The poet instructed the student in matters of music, art, politics, and economics. Ezra even chose the younger man’s friends.

When John graduated from Columbia in 1951, he attempted to enlist in the armed forces, but the military ruled him unfit for service. He then went back to New York where he opened the Make-It-New Bookshop, named for a 1935 collection of Ezra Pound’s essays. Soon he had partnered with another admirer of Ezra’s work and philosophies to launch Square $ Books, a publishing house that only chose authors who shared Ezra Pound’s fascism and anti-Semitism. John knew what the poet wanted to hear from him. “You know Gramps,” he wrote one week. “This city gets me down…. God! how it stinks! I sometimes go over to Yorkville on the East side to get a breath of fresh air. That’s where the German population of NYC live, and they have managed to keep the Yits out of their lives socially, but not, of course, financially. There are a few Nazis over there still and I enjoy talking to them. They know what is fact and what ain’t.”

But John struggled to match his mentor’s ideological purity. He stocked fascist texts in the bookstore, and one time he piled all the psychology books in the middle of the floor and stuck a sign on them labeling them “ ‘Jewish Muck.’ ” But John had been the one to stock the books in the first place.

John’s social life was even more confused and confusing. While in New York City, he joined the National Renaissance Party—an organization devoted to anti-Semitism and the belief that “what national socialism bestowed upon the German people stands before the world as a monument to all of the Western World”—and he invited the party to use Make-It-New as their meeting space. But he also attended NAACP meetings and distributed their materials in his store. And he helped a mixed-race couple find housing in the city and began a romantic relationship with a young Black woman. And he even brought her to visit Ezra Pound in St. Elizabeths.

About a year before he arrived in Clinton, John’s first bookstore closed, probably due to bankruptcy. He moved to Washington, D.C., to be closer to Pound, and he opened a new bookstore there that also specialized in fascist literature. That’s when his anti-Semitism morphed into fully developed white supremacy. John met Asa Carter, leader of Alabama’s violent white supremacist movement, who told him about what was coming in Clinton. The other towns under a court order had segregationists who were getting organized, but it seemed to Asa all was a little too quiet in the mountains. Plus, the other schools wouldn’t be opening until after Labor Day. If the segregationists could shut down Clinton High, it would be even easier to win the other fights that fall. John joined the Seaboard White Citizens’ Council, a fringe chapter of the national organization whose motto was “Honor-Pride-Fight: Save the White!” He wrote and published a series of pamphlets to publicize the organization and was soon its self-appointed executive secretary.

Over the summer of ’56, John left his new shop in the care of a female friend and began traveling, spreading his message of hate. On June 15 and July 20, he gave speeches in Maryland and Virginia. On August 4, he was arrested for distributing handbills without a license. He held his first rally on August 18 in Charlottesville, Virginia. There he hit on themes that would soon become familiar in Clinton, urging his listeners to fight against school desegregation and to found a White Citizens’ Council (under his purview, of course). Four days later, he crashed a local chapter meeting of the Virginia Council on Human Relations, a biracial civil rights group. While he railed against the members of the council, other white supremacists set fire to a cross outside. The following day, John Kasper stepped off a bus and onto the sidewalk in front of Hoskins Drug Store.



When John arrived in Clinton, he had nowhere to stay, no friends to support him, and no connections to the local community, but he did have a pocketful of dimes. That afternoon, after checking into the Park Hotel on Main Street, one of two hotels in the town, he stood in a downtown phone booth and called members of the Tennessee Federation for Constitutional Government, presumably from a list supplied by a mutual sympathizer, urging them to come picket the school.

Then he started walking, asking each passing white person, “You know they’re going to have to integrate the school system here next Monday?” and “What do you want to do about it?”

News of John’s activities got back to the white municipal leaders. At first these were just small-town rumors of a new man around, but then came reports from white folks he’d stopped on the street. This new guy was a wild card in their deck.

At 1:30 on Sunday afternoon, the mayor, police commissioner, sheriff, acting police chief, and newspaper editor held an emergency consultation to plan what they would do if trouble started. Horace Wells’s wife interrupted the meeting. John Kasper had rung up the house, asking if he could buy cardboard from the Clinton Courier-News to make placards. She told John that Horace would be at the newspaper at three o’clock. The assembled officials hustled over to the newspaper office to ambush the outsider, who arrived accompanied by his first local white ally, Willard Till. Mayor Lewallen asked John to leave. Horace Wells told him to go picket the federal courthouse in Knoxville. The sheriff threatened to arrest him. John thanked them and went right back to his work.

That afternoon, about two dozen white men listened to John give a speech on the courthouse lawn. It was “quite a crowd,” the sheriff told a local paper, so on Sunday evening he arrested John on charges of vagrancy and attempting to incite a riot and encouraging citizens to violate the law and urging schoolchildren to refrain from attending school and inciting hatred of duly constituted public officials and circulating literature to cause an affray or breach of the peace. No one came forward to pay John’s $5,000 bail. He’d been sitting in jail ever since, awaiting his preliminary hearing.

When there were so few picketers and protestors in Clinton’s streets on Monday morning, the municipal leaders said it proved the sheriff’s wisdom. Who knows how many John Kasper would have wrangled! Then there’d been the rally Monday night and now more folks were picketing Tuesday morning. Who could they blame for that? Surely, it was still that Yankee’s doing.



Promptly at 9:00, Judge Leon Elkins called his courtroom to order and invited the parties to make their statements.I The city’s lawyers warned against setting John Kasper free to make trouble. City officials testified they’d heard John making plans to concoct havoc, but under cross-examination, they admitted they hadn’t seen him doing anything illegal. But they knew he had! The lawyers introduced a piece of evidence, a propaganda pamphlet. The cover was a photo of three Black men and two white women. One of the men was kissing one of the women. “We are an attack program,” the flyer read. “We proclaim action as our creed. We are fighting. You must fight with us.” Surely, that was an example of John’s violent intentions. When they finished, John took the stand in his own defense, his first chance to make a public statement about why he was in Clinton. He focused on the allegations that he’d been sent to Clinton as part of a larger conspiracy against the city. He wasn’t a stooge, he insisted, and he was here of his own accord. The judge dismissed all charges against John Kasper for insufficient evidence. The crowd cheered. John thanked the judge, and the court went to recess. “I will remain here until the Negroes are out,” John promised. “I am pleased with the results so far.”

When John Kasper left the courthouse, the timeline smudges. Perhaps he went straight to Clinton High, leading a parade of seventy-five followers to the school. When they got there, they joined with the twenty-five or thirty folks who had remained in the street, swelling the number of segregationists to a hundred. Or maybe he only led twenty adults to the high school, but there were already close to a hundred gathered outside. Or it could be he disappeared for a couple hours, doing whatever business needed doing when one hoped to foment an uprising, not arriving at the school until lunchtime.

Here’s the next time the accounts agree: by noon, John and an unknown number of segregationists were in place outside the school’s doors shouting out and demanding an audience with the man in charge, Principal D. J. Brittain Jr. himself. One of the town’s policemen volunteered to act as their spokesperson, and he went into the school and asked D. J. to come out. D. J. agreed. He estimated that the crowd outside included twenty-five or thirty adults along with thirty or forty teenagers, most of whom were his students. John would claim there were three hundred there by this point. No matter the number, D. J. had to be frustrated to see the crowd around Kasper. These people—his current students, his former students, the parents of his pupils—were the ones he’d spent his career fighting for, trying to guarantee their right to a good education.

John spoke first: The principal must resign. That’s what the parents wanted.

D. J. repeated what he’d said since the court made its ruling, that he did not agree with desegregation, but he would follow the law.

“Look at this big crowd here,” John said. “You can see the citizens of Clinton don’t want you as principal of this school.”

“Present me with a petition showing fifty-one percent of my parents don’t want me,” D. J. answered. “I will resign that day.”

Apparently, that promise wasn’t good enough. “If you keep this up, there is going to be bloodshed,” John threatened.

D. J. pointed at the protesting students around him. “I hope the rest of you heard this threat,” he said. Then he turned away from John and started talking to individual parents and students, asking them about their frustrations and fears. When D. J. went back into the school, ten or twelve parents followed him. They talked for almost an hour and a half about why he was abiding by the court order.
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